The Senate

Legal and Constitutional Affairs Legislation Committee

Anti-Terrorism Laws Reform Bill 2009

October 2009



MEMBERS OF THE COMMITTEE

Members

Senator Patricia Crossin, Chair, ALP, NT

Senator Guy Barnett, **Deputy Chair**, LP, TAS

Senator David Feeney, ALP, VIC

Senator Mary Jo Fisher, LP, SA

Senator Scott Ludlam, AG, WA

Senator Gavin Marshall, ALP, VIC

Secretariat

Mr Peter Hallahan Secretary

Mr Tim Watling Principal Research Officer

Ms Cassimah Mackay Executive Assistant

Suite S1. 61 Telephone: (02) 6277 3560

Parliament House Fax: (02) 6277 5794

CANBERRA ACT 2600 Email: legcon.sen@aph.gov.au

TABLE OF CONTENTS

MEMBERS OF THE COMMITTEE ii
CHAPTER 1
INTRODUCTION
Conduct of the inquiry
Acknowledgement2
Note on references
CHAPTER 2
PROVISIONS
Schedule 1- Criminal Code Act 1995
Schedule 2 – Crimes Act 1914
Schedule 3 – Australian Security Intelligence Organisation Act 1979
Schedule 4 – National Security Information (Criminal and Civil Proceedings Act 2004
CHAPTER 311
ISSUES11
Schedule 1 – Amendments to the <i>Criminal Code Act 1995</i>
Schedule 2 – Amendments to the Crimes Act 191423
Schedule 3 –Amendments to the Australian Security and Intelligence Organisation Act 1979
Schedule 4 – repeal of the National Security Information (Criminal and Civi Proceedings) Act 200428
Conclusion
ADDITIONAL COMMENTS BY THE AUSTRALIAN GREENS31
APPENDIX 135
SUBMISSIONS RECEIVED35
APPENDIX 2

WITNESSES WHO APPEARED BEFORE THE COMM	HTTEE37
APPENDIX 3	39
SUMMARY OF AMENDMENTS	39

CHAPTER 1

INTRODUCTION

- 1.1 On 25 June 2009, the Senate referred the Anti-Terrorism Laws Reform Bill 2009 (the Bill) to the Senate Legislation Committee on Legal and Constitutional Affairs, for inquiry and report by 28 October 2009.
- 1.2 The Bill was introduced in the Senate on 23 June 2009 by Senator Scott Ludlam. The Bill seeks to amend the *Criminal Code Act 1995* (CCA), the *Crimes Act 1914* (CA), and the *Australian Security Intelligence Organisation Act 1979* (ASIO Act), and to repeal the *National Security Information (Criminal and Civil Proceedings) Act 2004*.
- 1.3 The Explanatory Memorandum describes the Bill's purpose as the restoration of 'core democratic principles into Australian laws dealing with terrorism offences'. ¹
- 1.4 The Bill aims to bring about amendments relating to the definition of terrorism offences, provisions relating to the proscription of 'terrorist organisations' as well as interaction with them, and offences related to 'reckless possession of a thing' potentially relating to the commission of a terrorist offence ', and to repealing the offence of sedition.²
- 1.5 The amendments also amend provisions relating to detention of terrorism suspects including changes to the periods of detention of persons suspected of terrorism offences and bail conditions for such persons.³
- 1.6 The Bill would also see the ASIO Act amended in relation to the questioning and detention of terrorism suspects.⁴

Conduct of the inquiry

- 1.7 The committee advertised the inquiry in *The Australian* newspaper on 1 July 2009, and invited submissions by 31 July 2009. Details of the inquiry, the Bill, and associated documents were placed on the committee's website. The committee also wrote to over 100 organisations and individuals inviting submissions.
- 1.8 The committee received 26 submissions which are listed at Appendix 1. Submissions were placed on the committee's website for ease of access by the public.
- 1.9 The committee held a public hearing in Sydney on 22 September 2009. A list of witnesses who appeared at the hearings is at Appendix 2 and copies of the Hansard transcript are available through the Internet at http://aph.gov.au/hansard.

¹ Explanatory Memorandum, p. 2.

² Explanatory Memorandum, p. 2, relating to Schedule 1 of the Bill.

³ Explanatory Memorandum, p. 2, relating to Schedule 2 of the Bill.

⁴ Explanatory Memorandum, p. 2, relating to Schedule 3 of the Bill.

Acknowledgement

1.10 The committee thanks the organisations and individuals who made submissions and gave evidence at the public hearing.

Note on references

1.11 References in this report are to individual submissions as received by the committee, not to a bound volume. References to the committee Hansard are to the proof Hansard: page numbers may vary between the proof and the official Hansard transcript.

CHAPTER 2 PROVISIONS

2.1 This chapter summarises the main provisions contained in the Bill, the content of the law as it stands, and the changes the proposed amendments represent. For ease of reference, a comparative table of the proposed changes is contained in Appendix 3.

Schedule 1- Criminal Code Act 1995

- 2.2 Items 1 and 2 would repeal the offence of sedition under section 80.2 of the CCA.
- 2.3 Items 3 and 4 relate to the definition of 'terrorist act' in section 100.1. At present, the term is defined as follows:

terrorist act means an action or threat of action where:

- (a) the action falls within subsection (2) and does not fall within subsection (3); and
- (b) the action is done or the threat is made with the intention of advancing a political, religious or ideological cause; and
- (c) the action is done or the threat is made with the intention of:
 - (i) coercing, or influencing by intimidation, the government of the Commonwealth or a State, Territory or foreign country, or of part of a State, Territory or foreign country; or
 - (ii) intimidating the public or a section of the public.
- (2) Action falls within this subsection if it:
 - (a) causes serious harm that is physical harm to a person; or
 - (b) causes serious damage to property; or
 - (c) causes a person's death; or
 - (d) endangers a person's life, other than the life of the person taking the action; or
 - (e) creates a serious risk to the health or safety of the public or a section of the public; or
 - (f) seriously interferes with, seriously disrupts, or destroys, an electronic system including, but not limited to:
 - (i) an information system; or
 - (ii) a telecommunications system; or
 - (iii) a financial system; or
 - (iv) a system used for the delivery of essential government services; or
 - (v) a system used for, or by, an essential public utility; or
 - (vi) a system used for, or by, a transport system.
- (3) Action falls within this subsection if it:
 - (a) is advocacy, protest, dissent or industrial action; and
 - (b) is not intended:

- (i) to cause serious harm that is physical harm to a person; or
- (ii) to cause a person's death; or
- (iii) to endanger the life of a person, other than the person taking the action; or
- (iv) to create a serious risk to the health or safety of the public or a section of the public.
- (4) In this Division:
 - (a) a reference to any person or property is a reference to any person or property wherever situated, within or outside Australia; and
 - (b) a reference to the public includes a reference to the public of a country other than Australia.
- 2.4 The amendments would remove reference to the advancement of a political, religious or ideological cause in existing paragraph (b), but would also remove any threat to commit a terrorist act from the terms of the offence.
- 2.5 Item 4 would repeal existing subsections (2) and (3), which serve to elaborate on the types of offences that fall within the definition of 'terrorist act' (in the case of subsection 2) and do *not* fall within the definition (subsections 3). The replacement provisions would allow that:
 - (2) Action falls within this subsection if it:
 - (a) causes a person's death; or
 - (b) endangers a person's life, other than the person taking the action; or
 - (c) causes serious harm that is physical harm to a person; or
 - (d) involves taking a person hostage; or
 - (e) creates a serious risk to the health or safety of the public or a section of the public.
 - (3) Action falls within this subsection if it:
 - (a) is advocacy, protest, dissent or industrial action; and
 - (b) is not intended:
 - (i)to cause serious harm that is physical harm to a person; or
 - (ii) to cause a person's death; or
 - (iii) to endanger the life of a person, other than the person taking the action; or
 - (iv) to involve taking a person hostage.
 - (3A) Action falls within this subsection if it takes place in the context of, and is associated with, an armed conflict (whether or not an international armed conflict).
- 2.6 The Explanatory Memorandum summarises the intention of the replacement provisions as:
- Limiting action that can be considered a terrorist act to action that causes a person's death; endangers a person's life (other than the person taking the action); causes serious physical harm to a person; involves taking a person hostage or creates or a serious risk to the health or safety of the public;

- Removing references to the damage of property and interference, disruption or destruction of information, telecommunication, financial, transport, or essential public utility systems or the delivery of essential government services as action that can be considered a terrorist act; and
- providing that an action will not fall within the definition of a terrorist act if the action is advocacy, protest, dissent or industrial action *and* is not *intended* either to cause a person's death, to cause serious physical harm to a person, to endanger another person's life, or to involve the taking of a person hostage.¹
- 2.7 One noteworthy aspect of the proposed amendments is the inclusion within the definition of a terrorist act of taking a person hostage, which is not currently explicitly included within the definition.
- 2.8 Item 5 would repeal section 101.4 of the CCA, which prohibits the possession of things connected with the preparation for, the engagement of a person in, or assistance in, terrorist acts. Subsection (2) prohibits recklessness in respect of the connection between the item they possess and the uses for which it is intended. Subsection (3) provides that an offence occurs even if the terrorist act does not take place.
- 2.9 In defining 'terrorist organisation' in section 102.1, item 7 would remove reference to organisations that assist or foster the doing of a terrorist act from the class of organisations covered by the definition.
- 2.10 Items 6, 8 and 10 deal with the proscription of terrorist organisations through regulation, currently covered by subsection 102.1(2). The provisions detail steps to be taken by the Minister in specifying an organisation as a terrorist organisation for the purposes of the section. They include a requirement that the Minister be satisfied on reasonable grounds that an organisation is directly or indirectly engaged in, preparing, planning, assisting in or fostering the doing of a terrorist act (even where such an act has not occurred or will not occur), or are advocating the doing of such an act. Other requirements include a briefing on the proposed regulation to the Leader of the Opposition, and a 'sunset' clause limiting the listing of an organisation by regulation to no more than 2 years, notwithstanding that it may be subsequently re-listed. Lastly, the current provisions allow for a listed organisation or individual to make application to be de-listed, and that the Minister must consider the application. The Minister may take any matter into consideration when considering the application to be de-listed.
- 2.11 These provisions would be repealed under Item 8, and replaced with new subsections 102.1(1AA), (2), (2AA), (2AB), (2AC), (2AD), and (2AE). In summary, the new subsection provide that before the Governor-General makes a regulation specifying an organisation as a terrorist organisation, the Minister must ensure the organisation is notified, if it is practical to do so, of the proposed listing and the organisation and its members are notified of their right to oppose the proposed listing. The Minister must also cause to be published, on the internet, in newspapers, in the

¹ Explanatory Memorandum, p. 3. Emphasis added.

Gazette and in any other way required by regulation, a notice that the regulation has been made and the consequences of the listing for the members of the organisation.

- 2.12 They would also provide that an organisation has the right to oppose the proposed listing. The Minster must also be satisfied on reasonable grounds that the organisation is directly or indirectly engaged in preparing, planning, assisting in the doing of a terrorist act or advocates the doing of a terrorist act. The decision to list an organisation would also be reviewable by the Administrative Appeals Tribunal, under procedures to be defined by regulation. The public notice would also state the time in which such an application can be made, who can apply for the review and where the application for review can be made.
- 2.13 New subsection (2AA) would require the Minister to seek advice and take into account recommendations of an Advisory Committee, established under new section 102.1AB, in making a decision whether the Minister is satisfied on reasonable grounds that the organisation is directly or indirectly engaged in preparing, planning, assisting in the doing of a terrorist act or advocates the doing of a terrorist act. The Advisory Committee would also be empowered to publicise its role, engage in public consultations or do anything else it considers necessary in carrying out its function.
- 2.14 The Committee would consist of at least 5 members appointed by the Minister, holding office on a part-time basis for a specified period of no more than 3 years. The Minister would not be permitted to appoint a person to the Advisory Committee unless satisfied the person is not otherwise connected to the process of listing an organisation and unless the Minster is satisfied that the person has knowledge of or experience in human or civil rights, security analysis, public affairs, public administration, legal practice or a field specified in regulations. The Minister would be required to terminate the appointment of a member in writing, and a member would resign in the same way.
- 2.15 Item 10 would substitute the current strict liability offence of receiving training from, or providing training to, a terrorist organisation, regardless of their knowledge of that fact. It would substitute new section 102.5 which provides for an offence if training is given or received when the organisation is known to be a terrorist organisation, or when the person is reckless about whether the organisation is a terrorist organisation.
- 2.16 Item 11 to 15 would amend section 102.7 of the CCA to replace the word 'support' with the term 'material support' and define the latter term to exclude the mere publication of views that appear to be favourable to an organisation or its objectives. These items implement a recommendation by the Parliamentary Joint Committee on Intelligence and Security made in their *Review of Security and Counter-Terrorism Legislation* in December 2006.²
- 2.17 Item 16 would repeal section 102.8, which provides for an offence where a person 'intentionally associates' on 2 or more occasions with a member or promoter of a terrorist organisation, where the association provides support to the organisation,

www.aph.gov.au/house/committee/pjcis/securityleg/report/chapter5.pdf, p. 79.

and that the person intends for that support to take place. The section also provides for a separate offence, requiring only 1 occasion of association, where a person has previously been convicted under the section.

Schedule 2 – Crimes Act 1914

- 2.18 Item 1 would repeal current section 15AA of the Crimes Act (CA), which provides for offences in respect of which a bail authority should grant bail only in 'exceptional circumstances'. The offences include:
- Terrorism offences (except those dealing with association with terrorist organisations)
- Commonwealth offences causing death, regardless of intention to do so;
- Treason, sedition, treachery or espionage (or similar), including ancillary offences defined under the Criminal Code, where a person's death is alleged to have been caused by the conduct or where the conduct carried a substantial risk of causing the death;³
- 2.19 Items 2 to 7 relate to the powers of detention for a person suspected of a terrorism offence. They would insert a specific requirement that the person be informed of their rights, at least in substance if not in comprehensive technical terms, at all material times.
- 2.20 They would also repeal some existing provisions which set out the circumstances in which a person being held on suspicion of a terrorism offence can be detained for longer than the maximum period specified in the CA, for any 'reasonable time' that 'questioning of the person is reasonably suspended or delayed'.⁴

Schedule 3 – Australian Security Intelligence Organisation Act 1979

- 2.21 Items 1 to 4 concern requests from the relevant Minister for warrants to detain and question a person suspected of being connected with a terrorism offence.
- 2.22 Subsection 34F(6) currently requires the Minister, when considering a request for a warrant in respect of a person previously detained under the same part of the ASIO Act, to consent to the request for another warrant only if satisfied that new or materially different information has come to hand that would justify the new warrant. The Bill would insert two new paragraphs (c) and (d) to provide that a warrant may not be issued unless the issuing authority is satisfied that the offence in relation to which the warrant is sought was committed after the end of the person's previous period of detention and arose in different circumstances to those in the offence to which any earlier warrants arose. New paragraph (d) would provide that the questioning of the person under the warrant requested must not relate to the offence to which any earlier warrant relates or the circumstances in which such an offence was committed.

Paragraph 15AA(2)(c), referring to Divisions 80 and 91 of the Criminal Code, and section 24AA of the CA.

⁴ Paragraph 23CA(8)(1) and (m).

- 2.23 Item 6 would repeal existing subsection 34K(10) which prohibits a detained person from contacting anybody at any time while in detention. The provision is subject to subsection 11, which prescribes various classes of persons with whom contact may be made. These include, for example, any person identified in the arrest warrant, the Ombudsman, the Australian Federal Police, and the Inspector-General of Intelligence and Security. Item 6 would repeal the blanket prohibition, while retaining the provisions in subsection 11. The practical effect of the amendment is further discussed in chapter 3.
- 2.24 Items 5 and 7 would reduce the maximum period a person can be detained in connection with a terrorism offence under the ASIO Act from 168 hours to 24 hours.
- 2.25 Item 8 would repeal section 34ZP of the Act, which clarifies that a detained person may be questioned in the absence of a lawyer of the person's choice. The Bill would not amend the section 34ZO, which gives serves to constrain the detained person making contact with a lawyer of their choice.
- 2.26 Item 9 would repeal provision for the parent, guardian or other representative of a detained person to be removed if they are considered unduly disruptive to the questioning of the person. This would mean that provisions allowing contact with a parent or guardian under section 34ZE would not be constrained by authorities forming the view that the parent, guardian or other representative was unduly disrupting the questioning of the person.
- 2.27 Item 10 would repeal subsection 34ZS(2), which provides than an offence is committed if certain operational information is disclosed by a person in the 2 years following the expiry of a warrant for questioning and detention. The amendment would see secrecy provisions about warrants limited to the term of the warrant.
- 2.28 Item 11 would repeal section 34ZT, which provides for regulations prohibiting or regulating access to information by lawyers acting for a person who is or was the subject of a warrant under the Act.

Schedule 4 – National Security Information (Criminal and Civil Proceedings) Act 2004

2.29 The Bill would repeal the *National Security Information (Criminal and Civil Proceedings) Act 2004.* The Act protects information from disclosure during Commonwealth criminal or any civil proceedings where the disclosure is likely to prejudice Australia's national security. The Act originally applied only to criminal proceedings, before its amendment in 2005 to cover federal, state and territory civil matters also. The summary description of the operation of the Act applies most accurately to criminal matters, and while civil matters are dealt with similarly under the 2005 amendments, a number of distinctions exist.⁵

Key differences in the Act's treatment of civil proceedings include, for example, broader circumstances for permitted disclosure of information, and broader application of security clearance provisions for legal representatives. For detailed description of the difference between criminal and civil cases under the Act, refer to the National Security Information Legislation Amendment Bill 2005, Revised Explanatory Memorandum, pp 1–2.

- 2.30 Specifically, the Act aims to protect information whose disclosure is likely to prejudice Australia's defence, security, international relations, law enforcement interests or national interests. The compromise of this information could possibly affect the security of the nation.
- 2.31 At the time the Bill was tabled, the Government argued that existing rules of evidence and procedure did not provide adequate protection for information related to national security where that information may be adduced or otherwise disclosed during the course of court proceedings.⁶
- 2.32 The Act provides for a procedure in cases where information relating to, or the disclosure of which may affect, national security could be introduced during a federal criminal or any civil proceeding, including interlocutory and discovery proceedings. The Act also covers a proceeding that is the subject of certain applications under section 39B of the *Judiciary Act 1903* and the *Extradition Act 1988*.
- 2.33 The Act provides for information to be introduced in such a form so as to facilitate the prosecution of an offence without prejudicing national security and the rights of the defendant to a fair trial.
- 2.34 A party must notify the Attorney-General at any stage of a proceeding where that party expects to introduce information that relates to, or the disclosure of which may affect, national security. This includes information that may be introduced through a document, a witness's answer to a question or the presence of a witness.
- 2.35 Upon notification, the Attorney-General considers the information and determines whether disclosure of the information is likely to prejudice national security. If so, the Attorney-General may issue a certificate which prevents the disclosure of the information or allows the information to be disclosed in a summarised or redacted form.
- 2.36 In the case of a trial, any certificates that have been issued must be considered at a closed hearing of the trial court prior to commencement. The Attorney-General may intervene in the proceeding. The court rules on the admissibility of the original information and considers the certificate. The court may:
- agree with the Attorney-General, that the information not be disclosed or disclosed other than in a particular form, in which case the trial continues or the defendant appeals; or
- disagree with the Attorney-General and order disclosure of the information in which case the trial continues or the prosecution appeals.

National Security Information (Criminal Proceedings) Bill 2004, Explanatory Memorandum, p.

CHAPTER 3

ISSUES

- 3.1 This private senator's bill is before the committee at the same time as the Attorney-General and his department are concluding a public consultation process over changes to Australia's national security legislative framework. The exposure draft of the Attorney's bill discloses that several of the issues and amendments being foreshadowed in this Bill, or very similar ones, are already being considered by the Government. However, the Bill currently before the Committee proposes some amendments that are not included in the Attorney's Exposure Draft. In light of the continuing calibration of the Government's exposure draft, and its likely introduction to the Parliament in coming months, this report briefly summarises the views put by submitters with a view to making a contribution to the final form of the reforms being considered by the Government. For the reasons discussed above, the committee has not made a specific recommendation on the substantive issues or overall merit of the Bill but is of the view that this report along with Hansard transcripts of hearings and submissions should form part of this current discussion.
- 3.2 The majority of submitters were positive about the changes signalled in the Bill.¹ A number of submissions received by the committee dealt with the provisions of the Bill in turn, while others considered the merit of the proposed amendments more generally. At the outset, however, the committee notes the ambivalence to the current set of laws expressed by a number of submitters, as evidenced by the following contribution from the Law Council of Australia (the Law Council):

When these provisions were initially introduced, it was certainly the Law Council's submission that the existing body of criminal law was sufficient, although the Law Council was open to the possibility that there was a need for specific offences or specific law enforcement powers to deal with these emergencies in unusual circumstances. The Law Council's position was, and it has not changed, that a cogent case was never made for why that existing body of laws was inadequate.²

3.3 Other submitters expressing a similar view in this regard included the Australian Muslim Civil Rights Advocacy Network (AMCRAN), the Human Rights Law Resource Centre, and the International Commission of Jurists (Australia) (ICJA).³

See, for example, Islamic Information and Support Centre of Australia, *submission 16*, pp 2–4; Liberty Victoria, *submission 23*, p. 1; Australian Islamic Mission, *submission 10*; Mr Ghayass Sari, *submission 9*; ICJA, *submission 26*, pp 1–2; Mr Mohamad Tabbaa, *submission 12*; Ms Christie Elemam, *submission 4*; Human Rights Law Resource Centre, *submission 21*.

² Ms Helen Donovan, Committee Hansard, 22 September 2009, p. 15.

³ AMCRAN, *submission 15*, p. 5; Human Rights Law Resource Centre, *submission 21*, p. 4; ICJA, *submission 26*, p. 4.

Schedule 1 – Amendments to the Criminal Code Act 1995

Sedition

3.4 The current offence of sedition would be repealed by the Bill.⁴ The ICJA⁵ and the Law Council expressed a common view that the sedition laws currently in place serve no useful purpose, are broadly drafted and rely on unqualified and undefined terms, resulting in an imprecise and uncertain scope of application. For these reasons they supported the proposed repeal. The availability of the current 'good faith' defence offers, in the Law Council's opinion, little respite:

The availability of a 'good faith defence' to the sedition charges does not allay these concerns. The fact that a court may ultimately find, after charges have been laid and a prosecution commenced, that the particular conduct falls within the limited 'good faith' exception, does not diminish the fear of criminal liability experienced by those engaged in publishing or reporting on matters that could potentially fall within the broad scope of the sedition offences.⁶

3.5 Similarly, the Law Council took little solace in the fact that current sedition laws have fallen into disuse, submitting that:

They have not been used to date. They have not been used for many years. But the Law Council thinks there is a danger in having these types of offences remain on the statute book even if they are not used. That is partly because...the law enforcement agencies sometimes as a result have a misunderstanding about the extent of their powers or about what sort of activity may be subject to criminal investigation and criminal prosecution. We have to remember—and this relates not only to the sedition offences but also to a number of the other offences which are covered by the discussion paper and by this bill—that, even though they might not be invoked and nobody may ever be charged or prosecuted for those offences, they provide a hook for the use of law enforcement powers and they allow police to obtain telephone interception warrants, for example, along with warrants to use a number of other intrusive powers. So, having them remain on the statute book is in itself a risk, notwithstanding that they may not be invoked in prosecution.⁷

3.6 The ICJA submitted that, if not repealed:

...the sedition offences will continue to pose a significant threat to freedom of speech and expression, the right to which is set out in Article 19 of the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights and Article 19 of the Universal Declaration of Human Rights. Australia is a party to both of these

6 Law Council of Australia, *submission 14*, p. 4.

Sedition occurs when a person urges another person to overthrow by force or violence either the Constitution, the Government of the Commonwealth, a State or a Territory, or the lawful authority of the Government of the Commonwealth.

⁵ ICJA, submission 26, p. 4.

⁷ Ms Helen Donovan, *Committee Hansard*, 22 September 2009, p. 11.

international instruments. The ICJA is also concerned that as presently worded the offences set out in section 80.2 can be recklessly committed even though there may be a lack of intention requisite for such an offence. This anomaly is problematic.⁸

3.7 The Australian Press Council informed the Committee that current antiterrorism laws had caused Australia to move from a position in the top 12 in the world listing of countries with a free press in 2002, to 35th, and submitted in respect of sedition laws that:

By and large the real problem with this sort of legislation is not that it involves censorship, but that it involves self-censorship...there is a potential there in the sedition laws and in the support for a proscribed organisation laws of the media being unable to report matters of public interest and concern because they themselves might be accused of either sedition or support for a proscribed organisation.⁹

3.8 Notably, the Gilbert and Tobin Centre of Public Law (the Gilbert and Tobin Centre) were a notable exception to the trend and opposed the amendment, but did not elaborate on their reasons for taking this position.¹⁰

Definition of 'Terrorist Act'

- 3.9 The Bill would significantly narrow the definition of a 'terrorist act' under the Act, removing the making of a threat of action from the definition. It would also remove references to the damage of property and interference, disruption or destruction of information, telecommunication, financial, transport, or essential public utility systems or the delivery of essential government services as action that can be considered a terrorist act. Reaction to the proposed amendment was mixed.
- 3.10 The Law Council supported the amendment, arguing that it was:

...of the view that the Australian definition of terrorist act in section 100.1 of the Criminal Code is broader than [the] internationally accepted definition [and]...includes threats of action, as well as completed acts. This not only inappropriately broadens the definition but, because of the interaction between s100.1(1) and s100.1(2), also renders the definition, in part, unintelligible.¹¹

3.11 The Federation of Community Legal Centres for the most part supported the proposed reform, criticising the current arrangements as follows:

In section 102 of our act we have a very broad category of offences in relation to organisations. It is an offence to have various sorts of involvements with any organisation, whether or not it has ever been proscribed by the government, which is engaged in preparing, planning,

9 Mr Jack Herman, *Committee Hansard*, 22 September 2009, p. 18.

⁸ ICJA, submission 26, p. 4.

Gilbert and Tobin Centre for Public Law, *submission 1*, p. 1.

¹¹ Law Council of Australia, submission 14, p. 7.

assisting or fostering directly or indirectly the doing of a terrorist act. So we have a very broad statutory notion of 'an organisation', which hangs on a very broad statutory notion of 'terrorist act'. Our notion of a 'terrorist act' does not distinguish between civilian violence and military violence; it does not distinguish between internal conflicts and international conflicts; it does not distinguish between actions that take place in the context of an ongoing armed conflict and acts that take place in a purely civilian context—for example, a suicide bombing in a cafe in Tel Aviv. We do not draw a distinction between that and violence in a military conflict situation. There are a number of distinctions and different international instruments. Various other jurisdictions often tend to be sensitive to one or more those distinctions in the way frame their laws in this area. I think the Australian position is peculiar in that it is sensitive to none of the relevant distinctions. It is about the failure of sensitivity to any of the relevant distinctions. And hanging on that very broad notion of 'terrorist act' is a whole range of broader offences, including our very broad 'organisation' offences, that operate very expansively compared to other comparable countries. 12

3.12 The ICJA viewed the amendment with mixed feelings, supporting the removal of 'threat' and 'threat of action', but submitting that:

...the removal of the phrase 'intention of advancing a political, religious or ideological cause' from the definition, may reduce the possibility of a particular political, religious or ideological group being particularly targeted by the police, media and the public, however terrorism will always have a political and ideological character. The ICJA suggests that perhaps merely the removal of 'religious' would be a more positive amendment.¹³

3.13 However, the Gilbert and Tobin Centre did not support the amendment, submitting that they:

...believe that it is appropriate for threats to commit a terrorist act to be criminalised. Therefore, we do not support item 3 since it removes the 'threat of action' and 'threat to commit a terrorist act' from the definition of a 'terrorist act', but does not, as recommended by the Security Legislation Review Committee ('SLRC') in 2006, create a separate offence of making a threat to engage in a terrorist act.

We support the recommendations of the SLRC that: (1) 'threat of action' and 'threat to commit a terrorist act' be deleted from the definition of a 'terrorist act' in subsection 100.1(1) of the Criminal Code; and (2) a separate offence of 'threat of action' or 'threat to commit a terrorist act' be included in Division 101.14

3.14 In addition to removing reference to the threat of an act, Item 3 would remove the current requirement that, to be a terrorist act, an act must advance a political,

13

¹² Dr Patrick Emerton, Committee Hansard, 22 September 2009, p. 5.

ICJA, submission 26, p. 5.

Gilbert and Tobin Centre of Public Law, *submission 1*, p. 2. 14

religious or ideological cause. The Gilbert and Tobin Centre would also retain the 'motive' requirement, which Item 3 would remove.

The effect of doing so would effectively render would-be terrorist acts as 'normal' violations of the criminal law, no different in character to traditional offences such as murder, assault and arson. It is the intention of 'advancing a political, religious or ideological cause' (combined with the other intentional element of the definition of a 'terrorist act' - that the action is done with the intention of coercing a government or intimidating the public) that distinguishes terrorist acts from other forms of criminal conduct. Australia's counter-terrorism laws (which give expansive powers to intelligence gathering and policing agencies to prevent and respond to terrorist acts, create broad preparatory offences and impose serious penalties for committing those offences) were justified by reference to the extraordinary nature of the threat posed by terrorism. The gravity of the potential harm and the intention of offenders meant that it was appropriate to enact laws that derogated from fundamental human rights and ordinary principles of criminal justice. We would therefore oppose any attempt to broaden the definition of a 'terrorist act' which might potentially extend it to less serious forms of criminal conduct which do not meet the description of 'political violence'. 15

3.15 Item 4 largely replicates the provisions of existing subsection 3, which go to the intention behind the act or threat and provide that an act or threat is not a terrorist act if it was not intended to cause harm or endanger life. However, the Bill would remove from the definition the creation of an offence by virtue of there being a serious risk to the health and safety of the public. The Gilbert and Tobin Centre took the opportunity to compare Australia's definition with those of other western nations, and commented that:

Action would only constitute a 'terrorist act' if it causes a certain level of personal harm. That is, it would not be sufficient (as it is currently under subsection 100.1(2)) for the act to cause serious damage to property and interfere with. disrupt or destroy information. telecommunications, financial, transport, or essential public utility systems or the delivery of essential government services. In including damage to property and infrastructure in the definition of a 'terrorist act', Australia has followed the UK example. We accept the argument put forward by Professor Kent Roach that there are 'real questions whether it is necessary to define all politically motivated serious damage to property or serious disruptions to electronic systems as terrorism'. We would prefer item 4 of the Bill to the current subsection 100.1(2). This would delete damage to property and infrastructure as part of the definition of a 'terrorist act', bringing Australia more into line with the approach in Canada and New Zealand. The definition of a terrorist act in Canada, for example, only includes property damage where it is likely to result in the death or serious bodily harm to a person, endanger a person's life or cause a serious risk to the health or safety of the public (or a segment of the public). Failing the

¹⁵ Gilbert and Tobin Centre of Public Law, *submission 1*, pp 2–3.

simple removal of the property and infrastructure aspects of subsection 100.1(2), we would favour the introduction of a similar qualification in respect of those provisions.¹⁶

3.16 However, the Gilbert and Tobin Centre did not support the removal of the offence of a serious risk to the health and safety of the public from subsection 100.1(3)(b) of the Act.

The reason for [the proposed removal] is not clear from the Explanatory Memorandum to the Bill. We do not support item 4. This is because we believe, as with hostage-taking, that such an act is of sufficient severity that a person should not be excused merely on the ground that he or she was engaging in advocacy, dissent, protest or industrial action. ¹⁷

3.17 The ICJA also did not support the amendment, on the grounds that the only action that would fall outside the definition of 'terrorist act' would be 'advocacy, protest, dissent or industrial action', and considered that such a narrow definition of what fell *outside* the definition could infringe Australia's obligations to the International Convention on Civil and Political Rights (ICCPR).¹⁸

New offence – taking of hostages

3.18 The Bill would create a new offence of taking a person hostage, unless the action was advocacy, protest, dissent or industrial action and was not intended to involve the taking of a hostage or cause harm of a type contained in proposed paragraph 100.1(3)(b). While not widely commented on, the proposal attracted specific support from the Gilbert and Tobin Centre.¹⁹

Exclusion of armed conflict

3.19 The Bill inserts a new subsection 100.1(3A) to provide that action will not be a terrorist act if it takes place in the context of, and is associated with, an armed conflict. The armed conflict need not be an international armed conflict. 'Armed conflict' is defined in the new section 100.1(3B) as having the same meaning that it has in Division 268 of the Criminal Code. The amendment garnered general support.²⁰

Possession of a thing connected with a terrorist act

- 3.20 Item 5 repeals section 101.4 of the Criminal Code. Section 101.4 prohibits the possession of a thing connected with preparation for, the engagement of a person in, or assistance in a terrorist act, where the person knows or is reckless as to the existence of that connection.
- 3.21 The Law Council criticise the existing provisions, and argue that:

19 See, for example, Gilbert and Tobin Centre of Public Law, *submission 1*, p. 4.

¹⁶ Gilbert and Tobin Centre of Public Law, *submission 1*, pp 3–4.

Gilbert and Tobin Centre of Public Law, *submission 1*, p. 5.

¹⁸ ICJA, submission 26, p. 5.

See, for example, Gilbert and Tobin Centre of Public Law, *submission 1*, p. 4; Australian Muslim Civil Rights Advocacy Network, *submission 15*, p. 11.

These types of offences, which expose a person to sanction for actions undertaken before he or she has formed any definite plan to commit a criminal act, represent a departure from the ordinary principles of criminal law...Some may argue that it is necessary to have widely drafted terrorism offences on the statute books so that law enforcement agencies have the room and flexibility to take a proactive and preventative approach. It is often assumed that no harm will ensue because ultimately the authorities are unlikely to resort to the terrorism provisions without evidence of a threat of the most serious nature. However, the Law Council believes that poorly defined, overly broad offence provisions can never be justified on the basis that, despite their potentially wide application, they are only intended to be utilised by the authorities in the most limited and serious of circumstances. An unacceptable element of unpredictability arises when the determination of whether or not a person is charged with a terrorist offence under Part 5.3 of the Criminal Code is left to the broad discretion of prosecutorial authorities.²¹

3.22 The Gilbert and Tobin Centre make the point that:

The Explanatory Memorandum to the Bill does not give any reasons why this section and not any of the other preparatory offences in Division 101 of the Criminal Code should be repealed. In our opinion, section 101.4 is not unique. Many of the other offences in Division 101 have the same problems as section 101.4.²²

3.23 The Gilbert and Tobin Centre went on to criticise the vagueness and lack of clear guidance given in the subsection to decision makers, and recommend a review of all of the preparatory offences in Division 101 of the Criminal Code, with an eye to determining whether these offences are effectively targeted to the threat of terrorism.²³

Terrorist organisation regulation and proscription

- 3.24 As detailed in the previous chapter, the Bill would replace arrangements going to the proscription of an organisation by the Minister. As summarised by the Explanatory Memorandum, the amendments would:
- provide notification, if it is practicable, to a person, or organization affected, when the proscription of an organization is proposed;
- provide the means, and right, for persons and organizations, to be heard in opposition, when proscription is considered;
- provide for the establishment of an advisory committee, to be appointed to advise the Attorney-General on cases that have been submitted for proscription of an organization;

Gilbert and Tobin Centre of Public Law, *submission 1*, p. 6.

²¹ Law Council of Australia, submission 14, p. 8.

²³ Gilbert and Tobin Centre of Public Law, *submission 1*, p. 6.

- require the committee to consist of people who are independent of the process of proscribing terrorist organizations, such as those with expertise in security analysis, public affairs, public administration and legal practice;
- require the role of the committee be publicised; and
- allow the committee to consult publicly and to receive submissions from members of the public to assist in their role.
- 3.25 The Law Council provided a lengthy argument against the current proscription arrangements, on the basis of a lack of transparency, a denial of natural justice to proscribed organisations, and the perception that mere advocacy of terrorism is grounds for listing. They observe that:

...having now observed the listing provisions in operation for several years, the Law Council questions whether the provisions actually serve any intrinsic law enforcement purpose. Any attempt to understand the law enforcement rationale behind how and when organisations are identified for proscription is frustrated by the opaque and ad hoc manner in which the proscription power has been exercised.²⁴

3.26 AMCRAN took the view that:

proscription is an inherently anti-democratic and draconian measure and we oppose the proscription regime in its entirety. However, we support the amendments in principle as they provide greater safeguards to the proscription process (including an independent advisory committee, notification to the organisation being listed, a means to be heard before being proscribed, consultation).²⁵

Discretion to proscribe

3.27 The Law Council opposes the provisions that the Bill seeks to amend, and has done for some time. In supporting the amendments to the extent that they enhance transparency and natural justice, the Council:

...opposed the enactment of the listing provisions when they were introduced...The basis of that opposition was the view that the Executive should not be empowered to declare that an organisation is a proscribed organisation without:

- prior judicial review and authorisation of the exercise of the power; and
- the opportunity for affected citizens to be heard.

The Law Council maintains its objections to the listing provisions on that basis. ²⁶

26 Law Council of Australia, *submission 14*, p. 10.

²⁴ Law Council of Australia, *submission 14*, p. 10.

²⁵ AMCRAN, submission 15, p. 14.

3.28 The Gilbert and Tobin Centre were concerned at the lack of guidance afforded the Attorney-General in the exercise of their discretion to proscribe, a concern also expressed by the ICJA.²⁷

'Fostering'

- 3.29 The Gilbert and Tobin Centre had concerns on a number of fronts. These included the breadth of the term 'fostering', which is used in connection with terrorist acts in the current legislation, but which is undefined.
- 3.30 The Centre agreed that the term should be deleted from the Code, an outcome achieved by Item 7 of this Schedule.²⁸ Nonetheless, the Bill would still provide for an organisation which 'assists' with a terrorist act to remain within the definition. This came under criticism from the ICJA, on the basis that the term was undefined and hence has the same drawbacks as does 'fostering'.²⁹

Notification process

3.31 The Gilbert and Tobin Centre supported the proposal to establish a notification process for proscribed organisations both before and after their proscription, and were unpersuaded by the Attorney-General's Department's previous argument to the Parliamentary Joint Committee on Intelligence and Security that 'providing notice prior to listing could adversely impact operational effectiveness and prejudice national security'. The Centre's counter-argument was as follows:

First, the proscription of an organisation can never be so urgently required that there is insufficient time for prior notification and consultation to occur. This is because proscription does not have any immediate effect. It merely facilitates the prosecution of individuals for terrorist organisation offences under Subdivision B of Division 102. In addition, quite apart from proscription by the executive, an organisation may in any event be found to be a terrorist organisation by a court under subsection 102.1(1). Second, the Statement of Reasons conventionally issued by the Attorney-General's Department after a regulation is made is based on publicly available details about an organisation. It is therefore difficult to see how disclosing this information to the relevant organisation or its members prior to a regulation being made would prejudice national security.³¹

Gilbert and Tobin Centre of Public Law, *submission 1*; Attorney-General's Department, *submission 10*, Parliamentary Joint Committee on Intelligence and Security, *Inquiry into the Terrorist Organisation Listing Provisions of the Criminal Code Act 1995*, 2007, p. 13.

²⁷ Gilbert and Tobin Centre of Public Law, *submission 1*, p. 7; ICJA, *submission 26*, pp 7–8.

Gilbert and Tobin Centre of Public Law, *submission 1*, p. 8. The Centre makes other noteworthy criticisms of the definition of 'terrorist organisation', particularly in respect of the terms 'advocacy' and 'praise'. The observations are set out on page 8 of the Centre's submission.

²⁹ ICJA, submission 26, p. 5.

³¹ Gilbert and Tobin Centre of Public Law, *submission 1*, p. 10.

Advisory listing committee

- 3.32 This amendment attracted general support. In its support, proponents considered that it would:
- assist the proscribed organisation and affected persons to understand the reasons for proscription;
- give the community a sense of assurance about controversial proscription decisions;
- educate the community about proscription and therefore improve the deterrence function of proscription;
- ensure that the Listing Advisory Committee has all the information necessary to make recommendations to the Attorney-General; and
- contribute to the strength of accountability mechanisms by providing the community with a template against which to judge the ultimate decision made by the Attorney-General.³²

Appeal to the Administrative Appeals Tribunal

- 3.33 This item was supported by, among others, the Federation of Community Legal Centres of Victoria and AMCRAN. 33
- 3.34 This item elicited concern from the ICJA, who took the view that:
 - ...while it is commendable that the government is seeking to heighten its accountability, the power to proscribe organisations should remain in the hands of the Governor-General rather than tribunals and courts as it is a most serious task. Merits review would likely not achieve a result better than advice from the Listing Advisory Committee.³⁴
- 3.35 The Gilbert and Tobin Centre took a similar line, and explicitly did not support the item, submitting that:

Merits review by the AAT is inconsistent with our opinion that proscription decisions are more appropriately made by the executive branch of government. Furthermore, merits review is unlikely to be effective given the traditional deference of the courts to the executive branch of government on matters of national security...building a safeguard onto the front of the proscription process, namely, creating an Advisory Listing Committee, is likely to be more effective than ex post facto merits review.³⁵

Gilbert and Tobin Centre of Public Law, *submission 1*, p. 11.

54 1CJA, submission 20, p. 1

35

See, for example, Gilbert and Tobin Centre of Public Law, *submission 1*, pp 10–11.

Federation of Community Legal Centres of Victoria, *submission 19*, p. 12; AMCRAN, *submission 15*, p. 16.

³⁴ ICJA, submission 26, p. 7.

Training with a terrorist organisation

- 3.36 Currently, the offence of training with a terrorist organisation is a strict liability offence; a prosecutor need not prove that a person knew or was reckless about whether the organisation was a terrorist organisation to successfully convict, the burden of proof being on the defendant to prove otherwise. The amended provision would require knowledge of, or at least recklessness as to whether, an organisation is a terrorist organisation before an offence is committed.
- 3.37 The Gilbert and Tobin Centre views the current provision as 'particularly problematic', and support the proposed amendment. However, they call for better targeting of the provision to more narrowly focus on conduct that prepares a person for terrorist acts. They point to the recommendations of the Security Legislation Review Committee, and point out that training in the use of office equipment would technically fall under the existing provisions. They suggest that an element of the offence be 'either that the training be connected with a terrorist act or that the training is such as could reasonably prepare the organisation, or the person receiving the training, to engage in, or assist with, a terrorist act' The Islamic Council of Victoria raised similar concerns, as did AMCRAN.
- 3.38 The Law Council would repeal the section, rather than amend it as the Bill proposes.³⁸

Providing support to a terrorist organisation

- 3.39 The Bill would require that 'support' provided to a terrorist organisation be 'material' before it can be successfully prosecuted. 'Material' is defined as not including 'the mere publication of views that appear to be favourable to an organisation or its objectives. The Bill would further require that the person either intends or is reckless as to whether the material support will be used by the organisation to engage in a terrorist act. The proposed amendment received general support.³⁹
- 3.40 A number of submitters saw problems with the current provisions insofar as 'support' is not defined in the Criminal Code, and as was noted by the SLRC in 2006, could be regarded as support that directly or indirectly helps a terrorist organisation engage in a terrorist act, and may even extend to the publication of views that appear to be favourable to a proscribed organisation and its stated purpose.⁴⁰ To this end, the

39 See, for example, Human Rights Law Resource Centre, *submission 21*, p. 5; Federation of Community Legal Centres of Victoria, *submission 19*, p. 12.

Gilbert and Tobin Centre of Public Law, *submission 1*, p. 12, referring to the Security Legislation Review Committee, *Report of the Security Legislation Review Committee*, June 2006, pp 114–118. The Islamic Council of Victoria took a similar view, *submission 6*, p. 2.

³⁷ Islamic Council of Victoria, submission 6, p. 2; AMCRAN, submission 15, p. 17.

³⁸ Law Council of Australia, submission 14, p. 14.

Gilbert and Tobin Centre of Public Law, *submission 1*, p. 13, referring to the Security Legislation Review Committee, *Report of the Security Legislation Review Committee*, June 2006, p. 121.

Gilbert and Tobin Centre consider that the Bill appropriately limits the scope of the offence, and they support the proposed amendment.⁴¹

3.41 The Law Council cited the inquiry by the Hon John Clarke QC into the Haneef case and argued for the repeal of the provisions creating the offence of providing support for a terror organisation, but went on to say:

However, if the section is to remain, the Law Council supports an amendment to the section designed to clarify that the assistance provided must be 'material' assistance and, at the very least, more than the mere publication of views that appear to be favourable to an organisation or its objectives...the Law Council is of the view that the section should require knowledge rather than recklessness as to whether the organisation was a terrorist organisation.⁴²

3.42 The ICJA supported the amendment but noted that:

...a person can be guilty of the offence if they are reckless as to whether the organisation is a terrorist organisation, or whether the material support or resources provided will be used in such an activity. The ICJA therefore submits that the person should have actual knowledge in order to be able to provide 'material support' and the section should be amended accordingly.⁴³

Associating with a terrorist organisation

- 3.43 Under section 102.8 of the Criminal Code, it is an offence to knowingly associate, on two or more occasions, with a member of a listed terrorist organisation or a person who directs and/or promotes activities of a listed terrorist organisation, with the intention of providing support and that support would assist the organisation to expand or continue to exist. The Bill would repeal the provision.
- 3.44 The Gilbert and Tobin Centre supported the repeal of the provision on two grounds. These were as follows:

First, this offence interferes with fundamental human rights – the freedoms of speech and association – and this interference is disproportionate to the protection of the community from the threat of terrorism. This is because section 102.8 does not properly target the culpable conduct. It is the provision of support to the terrorist organisation that should be criminalised (as per section 102.7 of the Criminal Code), rather than the person's association with a member of the organisation.

Second, this offence has been identified as a major contributor to the unhelpful perception amongst Australian Muslim communities that they are being targeted in a discriminatory manner by the counter-terrorism laws. This is one of the greatest challenges facing the Commonwealth in achieving an effective counter-terrorism strategy. Terrorism is far more

⁴¹ Gilbert and Tobin Centre of Public Law, *submission 1*, p. 13.

⁴² Law Council of Australia, *submission 14*, p. 15.

⁴³ ICJA, *submission* 26, p. 8.

likely to emerge from a divided society in which some feel marginalised and disempowered on the basis of their race or religious beliefs. Any factors that may isolate and exclude Muslim communities must be seriously addressed.⁴⁴

3.45 The Law Council concurred, and again drew this committee's attention to the conclusions of the Security Legislation Review Committee, which reported that:

The breadth of the offence, its lack of detail and certainty, along with the narrowness of its exemptions, has led the SLRC to conclude that considerable difficulties surround its practical application. Some of these difficulties include the offences' potential capture of a wide-range of legitimate activities, such as some social and religious festivals and gatherings and the provision of legal advice and legal representation. Further, the section is likely to result in significant prosecutorial complications. ⁴⁵

3.46 For its part, the Law Council argued that:

The Law Council submits that the association offence casts the net of criminal liability too widely by criminalising a person's associations, as opposed to their individual conduct...The Law Council is of the view that this is unnecessary because existing principles of accessorial liability already provide for an expansion of criminal responsibility to cover attempts, aiding and abetting, common purpose, incitement and conspiracy. These established principles draw a more appropriate line between direct and intentional engagement in criminal activity and peripheral association.⁴⁶

Schedule 2 – Amendments to the Crimes Act 1914

Presumption against bail

- 3.47 Item 1 of this Schedule would repeal current section 15AA of the Crimes Act, which provides for a strong presumption against bail for certain offences, so much so that in relation to most terrorism offences a bail authority must be satisfied that exceptional circumstances exist to justify bail being granted.
- 3.48 The proposal to repeal the section received support from the Law Council, which argued that there was no evidence to demonstrate why a reversal of the onus of proof in relation to bail was necessary to aid the investigation or prosecution of terror offences, and that:

No evidence has been put forward, for example, to suggest that persons charged with terrorism offences are more likely to abscond while on bail, re-offend, threaten or intimidate witnesses or otherwise interfere with the investigation. Prior to the introduction of s15AA, the existing bail

_

Gilbert and Tobin Centre of Public Law, *submission 1*, pp 13–14.

⁴⁵ Security Legislative Review Committee, *Report of the Security Legislation Review Committee* 2006 at paragraph 10.75.

⁴⁶ Law Council of Australia, *submission 14*, p. 15.

provisions already provided the court with the discretion to refuse bail on a range of grounds, and to take into account the seriousness of the offence in considering whether those grounds were made out. No reason was given as to why these existing provisions were inadequate to guard against any perceived risk to the community in terrorism cases.⁴⁷

3.49 The Gilbert and Tobin Centre argued that the proposed amendment goes too far, and that some offences justify the presumption against bail, but that the current arrangements are also unbalanced. Gilbert and Tobin submitted that:

The law in relation to bail is based on the principle that a person should not be deprived of his or her liberty without conviction for a criminal offence. There are, of course, exceptions such as where the prosecution provides evidence that the person might flee the country or destroy evidence or cause further danger to the community. An obligation on the defendant to prove exceptional circumstances before bail will be granted undermines the presumption of innocence, and therefore is generally only imposed with respect to offences of the highest degree of seriousness.

Section 15AA...treats almost all terrorism offences as satisfying this seriousness threshold. Whilst this may be correct in relation to some terrorism offences – for example, the offence in section 101.1 of the Criminal Code of engaging in a terrorist act (which carries a maximum life term of imprisonment) – it is patently incorrect in relation to others – for example, the membership offence in section 102.2 of the Criminal Code (which carries a maximum term of imprisonment of only ten years).⁴⁸

3.50 On the whole, however, the proposed amendment was supported.⁴⁹

Time limits on detention without charge

3.51 Current section 23CA and 23CB provide for periods of time that are not to be counted when calculating the period of time a person has been held without charge for the purpose of complying with time limits on detention without charge. The provisions therefore have the effect of extending the time in which a person can be held. This measure attracted widespread support. One of the periods of so-called 'dead time' is provided for under paragraph 23CA(8)(m) which allows questioning to be 'reasonably suspended or delayed' for a period specified by magistrate or justice of the peace, and for that period not to be counted toward the period the person has been held. The Bill would repeal paragraph 23CA(8)(m), require a person to be informed of their rights, and require any application for an extension of detention to be heard by a judge instead of a magistrate or justice of the peace.

48 Gilbert and Tobin Centre of Public Law, *submission 1*, p. 14.

⁴⁷ Law Council of Australia, *submission 14*, p. 17.

See, for example, the Islamic Council of Victoria, *submission* 6, p. 2; AMCRAN, *submission* 15, p. 22; ICJA, *submission* 26, p. 11.

See, for example, Islamic Information and Support Centre of Australia, *submission 16*, p. 3; AMCRAN, *submission 15*, p. 23; Federation of Community Legal Centres, *submission 19*, p. 14.

- 3.52 The Law Council submitted that, while the current investigation period is nominally capped at 24 hours, this does not operate as a safeguard against prolonged detention without charge because allowance for reasonable 'dead time' means that the 24 hours of questioning may be spread out over a period of weeks. The Council also argued that there is no clear limit in sub-paragraph 23CA(8)(m) and section 23CB on how many times police can approach a judicial officer to specify certain time periods as dead time, and that the threshold test that police need to satisfy in order to obtain an extension of the detention period is low. The conduct of ongoing routine investigative activities is enough to justify prolonged detention.⁵¹
- 3.53 Furthermore, the Council submitted that the time taken to make and dispose of a dead time application automatically further extends the dead time. Therefore, if the judicial officer hearing a dead time application under section 23CB fails to make a decision on the spot, and instead adjourns the matter, even for a period of days, then this time itself counts as dead time.⁵²
- 3.54 This creates the real risk that detained suspects or their legal representatives may be deterred from raising points of law or challenging evidence on the basis that it may delay the presiding judicial officer's pronouncement on the application.
- 3.55 To this end, the Law Council agreed with the Gilbert and Tobin Centre that a finite limit should be placed on how long a person can be held without charge. Gilbert and Tobin submitted that 48 hours would be a reasonable period.⁵³ As such, neither the Law Council nor Gilbert and Tobin supported the repeal of paragraph 23CA(8)(m), but did endorse proposed section 23DA, which would require applications to be heard by a judge.⁵⁴ In addition, the Law Council recommended the amendment of sections:
- 23CB to ensure police only have one opportunity to apply to a judicial officer to declare a specified period as reasonable dead time for the purposes of calculating the investigation period;
- 23CB to preclude a judicial officer from adjourning an application made under section 23CB for more than a specified number of hours, or alternatively, amend sub-paragraph 23CA(8)(h) to provide that any period of adjournment in excess of a certain number of hours is not dead time and therefore must be included in the calculation of the investigation period;
- 23CB and 23DA to require that if a suspect is not legally represented when an application is made under section 23CB or section 23DA, the police should be required to produce the suspect in person so that the judicial officer determining the application can satisfy him or herself that the suspect

⁵¹ Law Council of Australia, *submission 14*, p. 20.

⁵² Law Council of Australia, submission 14, p. 20.

⁵³ Law Council of Australia, submission 14, p. 21.

Gilbert and Tobin Centre of Public Law, *submission 1*, p. 16. The Law Council also supported this amendment, but expressed a preference for applications to go to a Supreme Court Judge.

understands the nature of the application and has been given his or her opportunity to be heard on the application;

• Amend section 23CB to require that applications must be made to a Supreme Court Judge, or at least a judicial officer, rather than permitting such applications to be determined by a justice of the peace or bail justice.⁵⁵

Schedule 3 –Amendments to the Australian Security and Intelligence Organisation Act 1979

Reduction in maximum length of detention

3.56 As described in the previous chapter, amendments to the ASIO Act would reduce the maximum period a person can be held for questioning under the Act from 7 days to 1 day. This measure attracted widespread support. The Gilbert and Tobin Centre submitted that:

It is not acceptable in a liberal democracy for a State police force to detain people in secret for several days, nor should it be acceptable for intelligence agencies like ASIO. No other comparable jurisdiction has enacted laws permitting the detention of citizens not suspected of any crime. ASIO's detention power is unnecessary and unjustifiable and should be repealed. While the fact that this power has not been used in the seven years of its existence points to the restraint and responsibility of the members of ASIO, it may also be said to provide clear evidence that it is unnecessary.⁵⁷

3.57 At the committee's public hearing, Ms Emily Howie from the Human Rights Law Resource Centre submitted in respect of the current ASIO detention provisions that her organisation:

[S]upport[s] the amendments in the bill before the committee, particularly because currently a person can be detained without charge under an ASIO warrant for up to 168 hours and a separate warrant can be issued at the end of that time if new material justifies it. This year the United Nations Human Rights Committee has stated that these provisions affect people's rights to liberty and security of the person and that, to the extent that they can affect people's ability to communicate with counsel of their own choosing, they also impinge upon the right to a fair trial. The ASIO detention provisions have also being considered by the UN Committee Against Torture, which has said that, to the extent that these provisions infringe people's rights to take proceedings to court to determine the lawfulness of their detention, they are in breach of article 2 of the Convention Against Torture.⁵⁸

See, for example, Human Rights Law Resource Centre, *submission 21*, p. 5; Federation of Community Legal Centres of Victoria, *submission 19*, p. 18; AMCRAN, *submission 15*, p. 25.

58 Ms Emily Howie, *Committee Hansard*, 22 September 2009, pp 25–26.

_

⁵⁵ Law Council of Australia, *submission 14*, p. 22.

⁵⁷ Gilbert and Tobin Centre of Public Law, *submission 1*, p. 17.

3.58 Dr Patrick Emerton, representing the Federation of Community Legal Centres of Victoria, considered the current ASIO provisions to be inappropriate, and that:

[T]he vesting of coercive investigatory powers in a body that is not a police force is at odds with some of the fundamentals of our constitutional tradition. It has consequences that then play out on the ground in an adverse way in respect of community members. They get policed by ASIO, but ASIO is not a body that conducts itself with the norms of a police force. They do not have the same rights in relation to ASIO officers that they have in relation to police officers and there are not the same constraints of publicity and accountability on ASIO that operate on police officers both as a matter of law and the long tradition of the constabulary. For those reasons we remain opposed to the vesting in ASIO of coercive powers of the sort that that part of the ASIO Act gives them.⁵⁹

- 3.59 The Law Council supported the direction taken in the proposed amendments, but would prefer to see the repeal of the whole of the relevant Division of the Act, and an alternative approach taken which:
- limits questioning to four hours with a four hour extension;
- requires judicial approval for any further extension; and
- entitles the subject to legal representation. ⁶⁰
- 3.60 A number of other submitters also called for ASIO's questioning and detention powers to be repealed in their entirety.⁶¹

Other provisions

- 3.61 Other amendments would repeal provisions which allow a detainee to be questioned even in the absence of their lawyer, and in the absence of their parent, guardian or other representative if that person is deemed to be overly disruptive. The offence of disclosing operational information within 2 years of learning the information as a result of the issue of a warrant would also be repealed.
- 3.62 The Gilbert and Tobin Centre argued for the explicit recognition of a right to take advice prior to being questioned, for the preservation of lawyer/client confidentiality, against the ability of ASIO to remove a representative for being overly disruptive, and against the offence of disclosing operational information.⁶²

See, for example, Australian Islamic Mission, *submission 10*, p. 1; Ms Christie Elemam, *submission 4*, p. 1.

⁵⁹ Dr Patrick Emerton, *Committee Hansard*, 22 September 2009, p. 8.

⁶⁰ Law Council of Australia, submission 14, p. 24.

Gilbert and Tobin Centre of Public Law, *submission 1*, p. 17, endorsing a previous submission to an inquiry of the Parliamentary Joint Committee on Intelligence and Security on this subject.

Schedule 4 – repeal of the National Security Information (Criminal and Civil Proceedings) Act 2004

- 3.63 The *National Security Information (Criminal and Civil Proceedings) Act 2004* deals with the disclosure during judicial proceedings of information that it is deemed might prejudice national security. This Bill would repeal it.
- 3.64 The Gilbert and Tobin Centre do not support the repeal of the Act, but call instead for a review of its terms by an independent reviewer. The review is warranted by criticism of the Act by judicial officers and practitioners, which the Centre claim is inefficient and (in part) unworkable because of its requirement for security clearance of practitioners and judicial staff, and other requirements.⁶³
- 3.65 The Law Council would not repeal the Act either, instead calling for amendments to repeal the security clearance process contained in section 39, or in the alternative, amend the section so as to give the Court a greater role in both determining whether a notice should be issued and reviewing a decision to refuse a legal representative a security clearance. The Council sets out a possible method of achieving this outcome in its submission.⁶⁴
- 3.66 On the other hand, the Federation of Community Legal Centres of Victoria supports the proposed repeal, submitting that:

The Act allows the Attorney General to closely monitor and regulate court processes in both criminal and civil proceedings. We see this as a clear breach of the doctrine of the separation of powers which is a corner stone of our legal system. The act gives extensive power to the government to control who participates in legal proceedings. The regime of security clearances is inconsistent with the principle of a judiciary which is independent from government. We submit that the power to determine how proceedings will be run should rest with the court. The regimes constructed in the Act for closed hearings, Ministerial certificates and security clearances are not the only method of dealing with classified and security sensitive information. The courts should be allowed to make a broad range of orders to protect such information.⁶⁵

Conclusion

3.67 As stated at the beginning of this chapter the committee makes no formal recommendation about the passage of this Bill but has used this inquiry process as a mechanism to further the public discussion on ways to improve laws relating to terrorist activity in Australia. To this end, the committee will forward to the Attorney-General copies of this report, along with Hansard transcripts and submissions to the inquiry so that they might assist him in progressing the consultation currently underway on the national security legislation framework. In particular, the committee will draw the Attorney's attention to the issues, arguments and proposals made in this

⁶³ Gilbert and Tobin Centre of Public Law, *submission 1*, p. 18.

⁶⁴ Law Council of Australia, *submission 14*, p. 27.

Federation of Community Legal Centres of Victoria, *submission 19*, p. 23.

Bill, and about which considerable comment was made by submitters, in respect of the ASIO Act and the proscription regime.

Senator Trish Crossin Chair

ADDITIONAL COMMENTS BY THE AUSTRALIAN GREENS

Terrorist crime, serious as it is, does not threaten our institutions of government or the existence as a civil community. The real threat to the life of the nation, in the sense of a people living in accordance with its traditional laws and political values, comes not from terrorism, but from laws such as these. That is the true measure of what terrorism may achieve. It is for parliament to decide whether to give the terrorists such a victory.'

- 1.1 The Australian Greens submitted the Anti-Terrorism Laws Reform Bill to the scrutiny of the Senate and its Legal and Constitutional Committee as a means of reforming the most egregious of the hastily enacted laws that seriously curtail human rights and fair trials in the years after the attacks on September 11, 2001. These laws urgently need to be reviewed to determine which merit retention and modernisation, and which should be struck from our statutes as embarrassing and offensive mistakes.
- 1.2 We acknowledge the impending debate on the establishment of the National Security Legislation Monitor who will undertake this reviewing role. The proposals in the Anti-Terrorism Laws Reform Bill are those which we believe lack the merits of even being deserving of review by this busy office.
- 1.3 The Greens join others on the Committee in hoping that the expertise and debate generated by this inquiry will feed into the government's discussion paper process on the anti-terrorism laws.
- 1.4 The government should note the high degree of agreement among the submitting parties in supporting the direction of this Bill, and that legal experts and organisations making submissions to the Attorney's discussion paper process have also commended the approaches taken in this Bill.
- 1.5 A close comparative reading of the Anti-Terrorism Laws Reform Bill and the Government's discussion paper and Exposure Draft reveals less common ground than has been suggested. The key points of divergence are outlined below.
- The government's paper extensively broadens rather than narrows the definition of a terrorist act despite the advice of the Sheller Committee:

 The Greens bill very carefully considers the statutory definition of a 'terrorist act' and brings it into line with internationally accepted definitions. Some of the terminology used within the Criminal Code in relation to terrorism offences is inadequately defined and vague. Treating the definition of terrorism in legislation as a broad-brush policy manifesto enlivens far

_

¹ Lord Hoffman, A v Secretary of State for the Home Department.

reaching and heavily punishable offences in Division 101-103 of the Criminal Code.

- The government exposure draft leaves broad ranging sedition offences in place, giving them the new name of 'urging violence'. Sedition, or offences formerly known as sedition, are not necessary when incitement or other public order offences already exist on our statutes. They remain unacceptable in societies where the right of citizens to criticise their government is viewed, indeed celebrated, as an essential component of democratic life.
- The government exposure draft proposes an increase in the intrusion of the Attorney into the judicial system under the National Security Information Act. The Greens strenuously oppose this Act because it breaches the doctrine of separation of powers and requires security clearance for lawyers while providing no justification. Requiring security clearance for lawyers threatens the right to a fair trial and limits the pool of lawyers permitted to act in cases. It also threatens the independence of the legal profession by allowing the executive arm of government to effectively 'vet' and limit the class of lawyers who are able to act in matters which might involve sensitive information.

By undermining the independence of the legal profession, the right to an impartial and independent trial with legal representation of one's choosing is undermined. This Act permits for closed court proceedings in certain circumstances for terrorism cases, and provisions relating to the designation of evidence as 'secret'. Accused persons can have evidence led against them without the ability of their counsel to evaluate the evidence. Even in the absence of such practices, the threat of their invocation hangs over legal proceedings for as long as the NSI Act remains in force.

- The government exposure draft proposes a seven day 'dead time' limit whereas this Bill proposes 24 hours as reasonable time to overcome delays associated with communicating with different time zones to verify information. Other legal experts providing evidence to the inquiry contend that 48 hours should be the maximum.
- As the Committee notes in its report, the Attorney's Exposure Draft leaves ASIO's enhanced powers untouched. Australians continue to be very concerned about the coercive, investigatory, police-like powers granted to an intelligence agency that does not have the same accountability or publicity as a properly constituted police force.
- The Attorney's exposure draft does not address the myriad of problems revealed by the current process used to proscribe an organisation or individual, which was universally condemned through this Inquiry, and the suggestion of an Advisory Committee universally supported. In fact, the government's Bill extends the duration of each listing, thus reducing the frequency of review.

- 1.6 Since the implementation of the controversial counter terrorism laws there have been several rigorous inquiries and detailed reports providing specific recommendations for reform.
- 1.7 While the Australian Greens were disappointed that it deepens rather than reverses aspects of the Howard-Ruddock terror laws, we commended the Attorney General for providing an opportunity for public comment on the 448-page National Security Legislation Discussion Paper and encouraged community engagement.
- 1.8 The Greens have also supported the speedy establishment of the promised reviewer of terrorism laws indeed, we supported the passage of such an office, in stronger form, through the Senate in late 2008. This person is yet to be appointed, and the proposal that it be a part time position supported by two staff is absurd given the huge expectation on this office, and the daunting backlog of poorly drafted, draconian legislation that this office will confront.
- 1.9 Australia's parliament and community did not get an opportunity to hold a thorough and considered debate over the terrorism laws when they were introduced; nor did they consent to the substantial reallocation of resources away from healthcare, environmental protection and education to carelessly defined security imperatives and the entrenchment of a massive internal surveillance effort.
- 1.10 Now is the time for this thorough and considered debate about methods for reducing the risk of terrorist violence while strengthening our democracy and upholding the values which these laws were supposed to defend. We commend this bill as an important part of furthering this debate.
- 1.11 Finally, I wish to record my thanks to the Committee and its hard working secretariat for the constructive way in which all members engaged in this inquiry.

Senator Scott Ludlam Australian Greens

APPENDIX 1

SUBMISSIONS RECEIVED

Submission	
Number	Submitter
1	Gilbert + Tobin Centre of Public Law
2	Name Withheld
3	Jamal Daoud
4	Christie Elemam
5	Ken McKinnon
6	Islamic Council of Victoria
7	Russo Lawyers
8	Mona Helal
9	Ghayass Sari
10	Australian Islamic Mission Inc
11	Lawrence McNamara
12	Muslim Student's Association of Victoria
13	Kaled Elhassan
14	Law Council of Australia
15	Australian Muslim Civil Rights Advocacy Network (AMCRAN)
16	Ahlus Sunnah Wal Jama'ah Association
17	David Keep
18	Attorney-General's Department
19	Federation of Community Legal Centres (Vic) Inc
20	Marilyn Shepherd
21	Human Rights Law Resource Centre
22	Waseem Lodhi
23	Libery Victoria (Victorian Council for Civil Liberties)
24	Asem Judah
25	Berhan Ahmed
26	The International Commission of Jurists Australia

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION RECEIVED

1 "Anti-Terrorism Laws: A Guide for Community Lawyers" - provided by Dr Patrick Emerton, Wednesday 23 September 2009

APPENDIX 2

WITNESSES WHO APPEARED BEFORE THE COMMITTEE

Sydney, Tuesday 22 September 2009

DONOVAN, Ms Helen, Co-Director, Criminal Law and Human Rights Branch Law Council of Australia

EMERTON, Dr Patrick, Member, Anti-Terrorism Laws Working Group Federation of Community Legal Centres (Victoria)

HERMAN, Mr Jack Richard, Executive Secretary Australian Press Council

HOWIE, Ms Emily, Senior Lawyer Human Rights Law Resource Centre

LYNCH, Dr Andrew, Director Gilbert and Tobin Centre of Public Law

McDONALD, Mr Geoffrey Angus, First Assistant Secretary, National Security Law and Policy Division
Attorney-General's Department

McGARRITY, Ms Nicola, Director, Terrorism and Law Project Gilbert and Tobin Centre of Public Law

McKINNON, Professor Ken, Chairman Australian Press Council

NANDAGOPAL, Ms Prabha, Secondee Lawyer Human Rights Law Resource Centre

WILLIAMS, Professor George Private Capacity

WILLING, Ms Annette Maree, Assistant Secretary, Security Law Branch, National Security Law and Policy Division Attorney-General's Department

WOOD, Mr John, Board Member Australian Muslim Civil Rights Advocacy Network

APPENDIX 3

SUMMARY OF AMENDMENTS

Schedule	Item number	Offence or provision	Current	Summary of proposed amendment
1 (Criminal Code Act)	1,2	Offence of Sedition		Repeal
	4,°E	Definition of 'terrorist act'	 terrorist act means an action or threat of action where: (a) the action falls within subsection (2) and does not fall within subsection (3); and (b) the action is done or the threat is made with the intention of advancing a political, religious or ideological cause; and (c) the action is done or the threat is made with the intention of either coercing, or influencing by intimidation, the government of the Commonwealth or a State, 	 terrorist act means an action where: (a) the action falls within subsection (2)and does not fall within subsection (3) or subsection (3A); and(b) the action is done with the intention of: coercing, or influencing by intimidation, the government of the Commonwealth or a State,Territory or foreign country, or of part of a State, Territory or foreign country; orintimidating the public or a section of the public.(2) Action falls within this subsection if
			Territory or foreign country, or of part of a State, Territory or foreign country; or	it: (a) causes a person's death; or (b) endangers a person's life, other than

	 intimidating the public or a section of the public 	the person taking the action; or (c) causes serious harm that is physical
		harm to a person; or
		(d) involves taking a person hostage; or
	(2) Action falls within this subsection if	(e) creates a serious risk to the health or
	it:	safety of the public or a section of the
	(a) causes serious harm that is physical	public.
	harm to a person; or	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
	(b) causes serious damage to property;	(3) Action falls within this subsection if it:
	or	(a) is advocacy protest dissent or
	(c) causes a person's death; or	industrial action; and (b) is not intended:
	(d) endangers a person's life, other than	• to cause serious harm that is
	the life of the person	physical harm to a person; or
	taking the action; or	 to cause a person's death; or to endanger the life of a person,
	(e) creates a serious risk to the health or	other than the person taking the
	safety of the public or a	action; or
	section of the public; or	 to involve taking a person hostage.
	(f) seriously interferes with, seriously	
	disrupts, or destroys, an	(3A) Action falls within this subsection if
	electronic system including, but not	it takes place in the context of, and is
	limited to:	associated with, an armed commet
	(i) an information system; or	(whether of not an international annea conflict).
	(ii) a telecommunications system; or	
	(iii) a financial system; or	
	(iv) a system used for the delivery of	

											Repeal
essential government	services; or	(v) a system used for, or by, an essential public utility; or	(vi) a system used for, or by, a transport system.	(3) Action falls within this subsection if it:	(a) is advocacy, protest, dissent or industrial action; and	(b) is not intended:	• to cause serious harm that is physical harm to a person; or	• to cause a person's death; or	• to endanger the life of a person, other than the person taking the action; or	• to create a serious risk to the health or safety of the public or a section of the public.	Possession of things connected with the preparation for, the engagement of a
											Possession of things connected with a
											5

42	
ge	
Pa	

	terrorist act	person in, or assistance in, a terrorist act. Recklessness in respect of a connection between a possession and the uses for which it is intended is also an offence, as is possession or recklessness even if a terrorist act does not occur.	
7	Definition of 'terrorist organisation'		
6,8	Proscription of an organisation	Minister must be satisfied on reasonable grounds that an organisation is directly or indirectly engaged in, preparing, planning, assisting in or fostering the doing of a terrorist act (even where such an act has not occurred or will not occur), or are advocating the doing of such an act. Must brief Leader of the Opposition on proposed regulation. 'Sunset' clause limiting the listing of an organisation by regulation to no more than 2 years, but can be subsequently relisted. Listed organisation or individual may make application to be de-listed, and that the Minister must consider the application. The Minister may take any matter into consideration when considering the application to be de-listed. listed.	Minister must ensure the organisation is notified, if it is practical to do so, of proposed listing and the right to oppose it. Minister must also publish a notice that the regulation has been made and the consequences of the listing for the members of the organisation. The Minister must also be satisfied on reasonable grounds that the organisation is directly or indirectly engaged in preparing, planning, assisting in the doing of a terrorist act or advocates the doing of a terrorist act. The decision to list would be reviewable by the Administrative Appeals Tribunal. Minister required to seek advice and take into account recommendations of an Advisory Committee in making listing decision. Advisory Committee empowered to publicise its role, engage in public consultations or do anything else it

			function. Committee would consist of at least 5 members appointed by the Minister, holding office on a part-time basis for a specified period of no more than 3 years.
10	Training	Strict liability offence of receiving training from, or providing training to, a terrorist organisation, regardless of knowledge of that fact.	Offence if training is given or received when the organisation is known to be a terrorist organisation, or when the person is reckless about whether the organisation is a terrorist organisation.
11–15	Support	Offence where a person intentionally provides support to an organisation they know to be a terrorist organisation, or they intentionally provide support to a terrorist organisation and are reckless about whether it is such an organisation.	The support provided would be required to be 'material support', excluding the mere publication of views which appear favourable to the organisation.
16	Association	Offence where a person intentionally associates on 2 or more occasions with a member or promoter of a terrorist organisation, where the association provides support to the organisation, and that the person intends for that support to take place. Separate offence, requiring only 1 occasion of association, where a person has previously been	Repeal

			convicted under the section.	
2 (Crimes Act)		Presumption against bail	Bail authority should grant bail only in 'exceptional circumstances' when the charge is a terrorism, treason, sedition, treachery offence, or a commonwealth offence causing death, regardless of intention to do so.	Repeal
	2–7	Powers of detention	The maximum period of detention of a person detained in relation to a terrorism offence may be extended, by a Magistrate, Justice of the Peace, of Federal Court Judge, for any 'reasonable time' during which questioning is 'reasonably suspended or delayed'. The extension period is uncapped by the legislation. Detainees are not specifically required to be informed of their rights.	The maximum period of detention may be extended for specific purposes already listed in the legislation, and only by a Federal Court Judge. The person must also be informed of their rights at all material times.
3 (ASIO)	4	Detention and questioning	Minister may only authorise request for warrant to detain and question a person previously the subject of a similar warrant when satisfied that new or materially different information is at hand to justify new warrant.	Would require that second offence be committed, after release from first detention period, before new warrant could be authorised by Minister or issued by authority. Questioning of the person under the second warrant must not relate to the offence about which the first

				warrant was sought.
	5,7	Period of detention	Maximum 168 hours	Maximum 24 hours
	9	Outside contact	A person detained under this part of the Act may not contact anyone while in custody	Repeal
	8	Legal representative	Detained person may be questioned without legal representative	Repeal
	6	Undue disruption	Parent, guardian or other representative of a detained person may be removed from questioning if conduct deemed unduly disruptive	Repeal
	10	Disclosure of information	Offence where previously detained person discloses operational information they learned through the issue of a warrant, within 2 years of the warrant being in force	Repeal
	11	Information for legal representatives	Regulations may be made to regulate access to information by the legal representative of a person seeking a remedy in relation to a warrant issued under the Act.	Repeal
4 (NSI Act)	1	Entire Act	Relates to disclosure of information during Commonwealth criminal or any	Repeal

civil proceedings where the disclosure is	likely to prejudice Australia's national	security.